IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC03-1966

MANUEL PARDO Jr.,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LEOR VELEANU
ASSISTANT CCRC-SOUTH
Florida Bar No. 0139191

LUCRECIA DIAZ ASSISTANT CCRC-S Florida Bar No.988110

CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL- SOUTH 101 NE 3d Avenue Suite 400 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301 (954) 713-1284 COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Mr. Pardo and co-defendant Rolando Garcia were charged with various offenses set forth in a nineteen (19) count indictment in Case Number 86-12910 (R. 1-15a). An amended indictment raising the charges to twenty-four (24) counts was thereafter filed (R. 16-34a), charging Mr. Pardo and Mr. Garcia with: first-degree murder of Mario Amador (Count I); first-degree murder of Roberto Alonso (Count II); robbery of cocaine from Mario Amador (Count III); unlawful possession of a firearm while engaged in the felony of first-degree murder and/or armed robbery (Count IV); first-degree murder of Luis Robledo (Count V); first-degree murder of Ulpiano Ledo (Count VI); armed robbery of a wallet and its contents from Luis Robledo (Count VII); unlawful possession of a firearm during a felony of murder and/or armed robbery (Count VIII); first-degree murder of Sara Musa (Count IX); first-degree murder of Fara Quintero (Count X); armed robbery of Sara Musa (Count XI); armed robbery of Fara Quintero (Count XII); unlawful display of a firearm while committing a felony (Count XIII); first-degree murder of Ramon Alvero (Count XIV); first-degree murder of Daisy Ricard (Count XV); unlawful possession of a firearm during a felony (Count XVI). Counts XVII through XVIV name only Garcia (R. 25). An indictment was filed in Case No. 86-14719 on June 11, 1986, charging Mr. Pardo and Mr. Garcia with the first-degree murder

of Michael Millot (Count I); and unlawful possession of a firearm while engaged in a criminal offense.

Various pretrial motions were filed, including a motion to sever defendants which was filed on October 30, 1986 (R. 191-93). After several conflicting rulings on whether the Garcia and Pardo cases would be severed from each other, and a mistrial, the trials of Mr. Pardo and Mr. Garcia were eventually severed from each other.¹

After a jury trial, Mr. Pardo was found guilty on April 15, 1988 (R. 4124-28). On April 19, 1988, the jury recommended death sentences for the first degree murder convictions (R. 4272-74). The jury voted 8-4 to impose the death penalty for the murder of Mario Amador, 9-3 for Roberto Alonso, 9-3 for Luis Robledo, 9-3 for Ulpiano Ledo, 8-4 for Sara Musa, 10-2 for Fara Quintero, 10-2 for Ramon Alvero, 10-2 for Daisy Ricard, and 8-4 for Michael Millot (R. 4251-53). On April 21, 1988, the trial court imposed sentences of death (R. 4138-44). On direct appeal, this Court affirmed Mr. Pardo's convictions and sentences. Pardo v. State, 563 So. 2d 77 (Fla. 1990). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on May 13, 1991. Pardo v. Florida, 111 S. Ct. 2043 (1991).

On July 21, 1998, Mr. Pardo filed an interlocutory appeal to this Court regarding the denial of access to public records by

¹Garcia was eventually tried on all counts, and convicted and sentenced to death. His convictions were overturned by the Florida Supreme Court due to the error in failing to sever the counts. <u>Garcia v. State</u>, 568 So. 2d 896 (Fla. 1990).

the lower court. That appeal was pending until January 18, 2000, when it was dismissed without prejudice to raise upon final appeal. On June 25, 2001, Mr. Pardo filed an Amended Motion to Vacate his convictions and sentences of death pursuant to Rule 3.850/3.851. On September 12, 2002, a supplement to the 3.850 motion was filed raising the applicability of Ring v. Arizona, 122 S. Ct. 2428 (2002) to Florida's death penalty process. Following a Huff hearing, the lower court ordered an evidentiary hearing on three issues; (1) Whether the State violated Brady v. Maryland 373 U.S. 83 (1963) when it failed to turn over to the defense a eight hour video taped statement of the State's witness Carlo Ribera; (2) Whether Mr. Pardo's trial counsel represented Mr. Pardo under a conflict of interest, and (3) Whether trial counsel was ineffective for not moving to sever all nine first degree murder counts into separate trials.

2003 Evidentiary Hearing

On June 25 and June 30, 2003, an evidentiary hearing was conducted. Counsel for Mr. Pardo presented two witnesses: (1) trial counsel Ronald Guralnick; and (2) movie producer Richard Seres. The State presented no witnesses.

Regarding the <u>Brady</u> claim, the State conceded at the evidentiary hearing that the video taped statements of Carlo Ribera, taken on May 6 & 7, 1986, were never provided to defense counsel. The State claimed that the tapes were not given to defense counsel because the prosecution did know about the existence of the video tapes. (PCR 237). At the evidentiary

hearing, trial counsel's pre-trial Motion for Discovery was admitted into evidence as Defense Exhibit C. In the Motion for Discovery, trial counsel specifically requested, inter alia, all recorded statements by all witnesses. Appellant also introduced into evidence Exhibit D, which was a portion of a pre-trial transcript from a court proceeding in Mr. Pardo's case. At that proceeding, the prosecutor specified that "we have turned over all impeachment evidence, all exculpatory evidence, and we do not have any that we haven't turned over." (Exhibit D). Trial counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing that he would have wanted all impeachment information regarding Ribera because he wanted to "impeach Ribera to death." (Supp. PCR. 156). asked about specific contradictions between Ribera's trial testimony and the suppressed video taped statement, trial counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing that he would have considered using any materials provided to him (in this case, materials that were not provided to him) to benefit his client2.

²At the evidentiary hearing, the trial attorney, Ron Guralnick revealed that he did not view the video tapes nor the transcripts of the tapes which were provided to him by undersigned counsel. Undersigned counsel provided Mr. Guralnick the tapes and transcripts more than three weeks prior to the hearing. Furthermore, in hope of avoiding any such problem, undersigned counsel brought this matter to the court's attention over a month prior the hearing during a status conference. Following this court's explicit instruction, undersigned counsel spoke with Mr. Guralnick and conveyed the court's wishes that he view the tape prior to the evidentiary hearing. Mr. Guralnick responded that he would do so. Thus, undersigned counsel followed the court's directions and cannot be faulted for Mr. Guralnick's failure to watch the video taped statements. Certainly, Mr. Pardo should suffer no prejudice from this matter. Additionally, in an abundance of

(Supp. PCR 159-60).

Trial counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing that Mr. Pardo hired him privately (Supp. PCR 183) and was only paid an "insignificant" amount of money. (Supp. PCR 187). Trial counsel also acknowledged that prior to trial, he authored a Motion to Withdraw³ which stated, inter alia, "One fact is certain, Counsel cannot possibly defend this Defendant on what amounts to a pro bono basis because to do so would virtually destroy his law practice." (Defense Exhibit M).

With respect to the issue of the severance of the charges facing his client, trial counsel testified during cross examination that he did join in Mr. Pardo's co-defendant's motion to sever the counts but decided to withdraw from that motion because:

All the separate counts of murder that had been filed against him, if I had tried them each individually, I mean, his chances of winning every single one of them with the evidence they had, you would have a better shot a winning the lottery. So it was my opinion that with an insanity defense, if they're all joined in one case, that if the jury believed the he was insane, then he was a total winner.(Supp. PCR 233).

On August 26, 2003, the lower court rendered an order denying

caution, undersigned counsel moved for a continuance so that Mr. Gurlanick could view the tapes, as well as request that Mr. Guralnick view the tapes in open court since the tapes were already admitted in evidence at that point in the evidentiary hearing, both requests were denied (Supp. PCR.142).

³ Trial counsel's *Motion to Withdraw* was not included in the record on appeal from the Direct Appeal. It therefore appears that the Motion was never filed.

all claims raised in Mr. Pardo's Rule 3.850 motion. This appeal now follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. The lower court erred in summarily denying several meritorious claims where an evidentiary hearing was necessary to resolve the claims.

Compelling evidence that Mr. Pardo was incompetent at the time of trial, as well as evidence that the mental health experts who did examine Mr. Pardo performed scientifically deficient evaluations was alleged in Mr. Pardo's Rule 3.850 motion and required a full evidentiary hearing. While the issue of failure to hold a competency hearing was raised on direct appeal, it was not discovered that Mr. Pardo suffered from a severe thyroid disorder until after he was sent to death row. As alleged in Mr. Pardo's Rule 3.850 motion, compelling medical evidence exists that severe, untreated thyroid disorders can cause numerous psychiatric conditions. The very same evaluations that the lower court and this Court previously relied upon to find Mr. Pardo competent included several tell-tale signs of Mr. Pardo's severe physical illness that caused severe psychiatric impairments. However, the doctors who performed the evaluations mis-diagnosed obvious symptoms, and their conclusions are medically unreliable. The effect of Mr. Pardo's thyroid

disorder on his competency, as well as the unreliability of the pre-trial evaluations are not refuted by the record and thus require evidentiary development. Furthermore, other claims which were raised and not refuted by the record were also improperly denied without an evidentiary hearing. In fact, compelling evidence that Mr. Pardo was not even at the scene of two of the homicides is clearly not refuted by the record. Additionally, trial counsel's failure to properly secure a competent mental health expert was likewise not refuted by the record and thus required an evidentiary hearing.

2. The lower court erred in denying relief following an evidentiary hearing on Mr. Pardo's Brady claim

Undoubtedly the key witness for the State in its prosecution against Mr. Pardo was Carlo Ribera. Ribera was a criminal who told police he became involved in the world of drug dealing. Ribera became "friends" with Mr. Pardo and co-defendant Rolando Garcia and ultimately became a confidential informant for the police and provided information to the police about Mr. Pardo and Rolando Garcia. Several years after Ribera testified against Mr. Pardo at trial, it was discovered that an eight hour video taped statement by Ribera was never turned over to the defense. The statement contradicts Ribera's trial testimony in several material ways. Additionally, the suppression of the statement denied Mr. Pardo a fair trial because had the statement been disclosed, additional avenues of investigation

and defense strategies could have been pursued . The lower court granted an evidentiary hearing on the issue of whether the State violated <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 83 S.Ct. 1194 (1963) by failing to disclose the video taped statement. The lower court erred by denying this <u>Brady</u> claim following the evidentiary hearing.

3. The lower court erred in denying relief following an evidentiary hearing on Mr. Pardo's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to sever counts

Despite the fact that the State did not oppose a severance of several of the unrelated homicide charges Mr. Pardo was facing, trial counsel withdrew from an earlier motion to sever counts and proceeding to trial on all nine murder charges and numerous other felonies. At the evidentiary hearing, trial counsel testified that the reason he wanted to proceed on all charges was that if at one trial single trial the jury believed his client was insane, then his client would be a "total winner." (Supp. PCR 233). However, trial counsel believed Mr. Pardo would have a better shot a winning the lottery than winning every separate trial. This "strategy" was unreasonable, not based upon the quality of evidence against each charge Mr. Pardo faced, and heavily influenced by trial counsel's financial inability to represent Mr. Pardo in numerous trials.

4. The lower court erred by denying Mr. Pardo access to public records

The lower court denied Mr. Pardo access to numerous public records due to Mr. Pardo's inability to demonstrate how the requested public records would be relevant to Mr. Pardo's post-conviction motion. The lower court sought guidance from this Court on how relevance should be established in relation to public records requests. An interlocutory appeal was filed with this Court and eventually denied without prejudice to raise upon final appeal. By requiring Mr. Pardo to establish relevance in order to receive public records, Florida Rule of Procedure 3.852 violates Mr. Pardo's constitutional right of access to public records guaranteed by the Florida Constitution. Furthermore, Rule 3.852 violates Mr. Pardo's Fourteenth Amendment right to equal protection by creating a separate class, death row inmates, who must show relevance in order to receive public records.

ARGUMENTS

ARGUMENT 1

The lower court erred in summarily denying several meritorious claims where an evidentiary hearing was necessary to resolve the claims

A trial court has only two options when presented with a Rule 3.850 motion: "either grant an evidentiary hearing or

alternatively attach to any order denying relief adequate portions of the record affirmatively demonstrating that appellant is not entitled to relief on the claims asserted,"

Witherspoon v. State 590 So.2d 1138 (4th DCA 1992). A trial court may not summarily deny without "attach[ing] portions of the files and records conclusively showing the appellant is entitled to no relief," Rodriguez v. State, 592 So.2d 1261 (2nd DCA 1992). See also Brown v. State, 596 So.2d 1025, 1028 (Fla.1992).

STANDARD OF REVIEW: To uphold the summary denial of claims raised in a Rule 3.850 motion, the claims must be either facially invalid or conclusively refuted by the record. no evidentiary hearing was held by the lower court, the appellant's factual allegations must be accepted to the extent that they are not refuted by the record. Peede v. State, 748 So. 2d 243 (Fla. 1999). Under Rule 3.850 and this Court's well settled precedent, a post conviction appellant is entitled to evidentiary hearing unless the motion and the files and the records in the case conclusively show that the prisoner is entitled to no relief," Fla R. Crim. P. 3.850. See also Lemon <u>v. State</u>, 498 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1986); <u>Hoffman v. State</u>, 613 So.2d 1250, (Fla. 1987); O'Callaghan v. State, 461 So. 2d 1354, 1355 (Fla. 1984). Mr. Pardo has alleged facts, which, if proven, would entitle him to relief. Furthermore, the files and records in this case do not conclusively show that he is entitled to no relief.

A. The evaluations which found Mr. Pardo competent were inadequate and scientifically unreliable. Mr. Pardo was incompetent at the time of his capital trial.

The claims related to Mr. Pardo's competency were addressed by the lower court in four interrelated claims; (1) trial counsel failed to request a competency evaluation (PC-R 376); (2) failure to investigate underlying cause for Mr. Pardo's insanity (PC-R 378); (3) Mr. Pardo was incompetent to stand trial (PC-R 379); and (4) the mental health experts who evaluated Mr. Pardo failed to conduct professionally competent and appropriate evaluations (PC-R 380). For each claim, the lower court erred in not conducting an evidentiary hearing. The lower court essentially denied the competency claims holding that the issue was previously addressed by this Court on direct appeal and rejected citing

Mr. Guralnick stipulated that his client was competent, and reiterated that he only wanted a determination of insanity. The court appointed experts examined Defendant, found him to be sane, and also determined that he was competent to stand trial. Thus, not only was there no reason for the court to have ordered a competency hearing, but also there was no prejudice to Defendant, as the hearing would not have benefitted him. <u>Pardo v. State</u>, 563 So. 2d at 79 (PC-R 376, 379).

While undersigned counsel acknowledges that the claim of failure to conduct a competency hearing was raised and rejected on direct appeal, the instant consolidated competency claims are not procedurally barred. What the lower court's order demonstrates is that it completely misunderstood or simply ignored the actual issues raised. While it is true that the

mental health experts appointed to determine insanity also found Mr. Pardo competent, the actual issues raised were that these evaluations were professionally inadequate, scientifically unreliable, and that they failed to diagnose clear symptoms of illness. The facts alleged in Mr. Pardo's 3.850 motion were legally sufficient to require an evidentiary hearing on whether Mr. Pardo was competent at the time of trial as well as whether the mental health evaluations were scientifically adequate to satisfy the requirements of due process.

The notion that a defendant must be competent to stand trial is a bedrock principle of our legal system not just to assure the defendant of a fair trial but to assure that the entire judicial procedure has credibility. Simply put, if a defendant is incompetent and cannot assist his attorney in defending himself, then the trial can never be considered a fair one. In such a situation, the defendant suffers and the Constitution suffers.

Mr. Pardo's case represents exactly this situation.

Soon after Mr. Pardo was convicted and sent to death row to await his execution, blood tests confirmed what should have been obvious to everyone involved in Mr. Pardo's capital trial. Mr. Pardo suffers from a severe thyroid disorder which manifested itself in physical changes that were apparent to both the attorneys and mental health experts who worked on Mr. Pardo's case. Aside from the physical changes that could be seen with the naked eye, Mr. Pardo's thyroid disorder was the cause of a severe mood disorder and clinical depression which rendered Mr.

Pardo incompetent. Although Mr. Pardo's above-average intelligence and knowledge of the criminal justice system made him more than capable of understanding the standard questions which experts use to determine competency to stand trial, Mr. Pardo's illness made it impossible for him to rationally understand the charges he faced and he could not assist in any meaningful manner in his defense. This of course was vividly played out in front of the judge and jury as Mr. Pardo took the stand over his attorney's objection and completely contradicted the defense theory presented to the court. (R. 3561). In fact, Mr. Pardo testified to the jury that he is not insane and they should ignore the defense. (R. 4205).

A review of Mr. Pardo's testimony reveals that he was irrational and could not assist in his defense. Despite the fact that Mr. Pardo was a police officer, he told the jury that he has not committed murder because murder is the unlawful taking of human life, and the people he killed were parasites and leeches and not human beings (R. 3565,66). Even if in his own mind he acted rationally, it cannot be said that Mr. Pardo could meaningfully assist in his own defense. The record reveals, quite to the contrary, that Mr. Pardo undermined his own defense at every step. What the record reveals is that Mr. Pardo did not truly have a rational understanding of the charges he faced. Clearly he did not believe his victims were literally cockroaches that needed to be exterminated. Mr. Pardo certainly understood that the people he killed were human beings. It is

plainly irrational to plead not guilty by reason of insanity, and then proceed to tell the jury that he disagrees with his own defense and that he is not insane. (R. 3600). Mr. Pardo left the jury little choice but to convict him when he took credit for killing the humans he called "dregs of society." (R. 3574). It was not until the penalty phase, prior to Mr. Pardo taking the witness stand, when trial counsel finally stated the obvious; that "Mr. Pardo's is incompetent to understand how his statements will help or hurt him." (R. 4203). Even then, trial counsel failed to request a full competency hearing. What trial counsel did not know, and what every doctor who was involved in Mr. Pardo's case failed to discover, was that Mr. Pardo was suffering from a disease which caused severe physical and mental impairments.

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