IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC03-1966

MANUEL PARDO, JR.,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH
JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY,
CRIMINAL DIVISION

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SANDRA S. JAGGARD
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0012068
Office of the Attorney General
Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 950
444 Brickell Avenue
Miami, Florida 33131
PH. (305) 377-5441
FAX (305) 377-5654

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

III. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT THE DECISION TO HAVE ALL THE COUNTS TRIED TOGETHER WAS A REASONABLE STRATEGIC DECISION.

Defendant next contends that the trial court erred in denying his claim that counsel was ineffective for withdrawing his motion to sever and having all of the crimes with which Defendant was charged tried at once. However, the trial court properly rejected this claim based on direct testimony that counsel made a strategic decision to proceed as he did.

It is well established that a strategic decision made after full investigation of the facts and law is virtually unchallengable. They may only be overturned if they were "so patently unreasonable that no competent attorney would have chosen it." Haliburton v. State, 691 So. 2d 466, 471 (Fla. 1997)(quoting Palmes v. Wainwright, 725 F.2d 1511, 1521 (11th Cir. 1984) (quoting Adams v. Wainwright, 709 F.2d 1443, 1445 (11th Cir. 1983))). Moreover, in reviewing a trial court's decision on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, this Court gives deference to the lower court's factual findings while reviewing its conclusion on deficiency and prejudice de novo. Stephens v. State, 748 So. 2d 1028, 1032-33 (Fla. 1999).

Here, the trial court rejected this claim because counsel made a strategic decision to proceed with one trial on all the counts. (PCR2. 374) Defendant did not present any evidence

that counsel did not full investigate the facts and the law before making this decision. He does not even contend to this Court that counsel did not investigate the facts or the law. As such, the trial court properly rejected this claim on the grounds that it was a virtually unchallengeable strategic decision. It should be affirmed.

Defendant first appears to attack the trial court's finding that counsel made a strategic decision to have all the cases tried together. However, the question of whether counsel made a strategic decision is a question of fact. Bolender v. Singletary, 16 F.3d 1547, 1558 n.12 (11th Cir. 1994). Here, there is competent, substantial evidence to support the trial court's finding that counsel made a strategic decision. Counsel directly testified that he made a strategic decision and the basis for it. As such, it should be affirmed.

Moreover, the record from the time of trial indicated that counsel had made a strategic decision, in consultation with Defendant and without his objection. At the hearing on February 2, 1988, Defendant announced that he was seeking severance both of the counts charged in the indictment in case no. F86-12910A and of the defendants. (R. 1405) At the hearing on March 24, 1988, the trial court originally granted the motion for severance of defendants based on its belief that Defendant's

insanity defense would result in admission from Defendant that Garcia committed the crimes with him. (R. 1476-1517) The trial court refused to hear from Defendant about severance of counts but did hear Garcia's motion and granted him severance only of the Musa/Quintero counts. (R. 1522-37)

The following morning, the State pointed out that Defendant was not implicating Garcia, and the trial court reconsidered its prior ruling on the severance of defendants, which in now denied. (R. 1549-61) Defendant subsequently joined Garcia's motion to sever the Musa/Quintero counts, which was granted. (R. 1577) The trial court then proceeded with the joint trial, which ended in a mistrial during the testimony of Ribera, the first witness. (R. 35-45) After the mistrial, the trial court severed Garcia on Garcia's motion. (R. 45)

Once Defendant was being tried alone, Defendant withdrew his motion to sever any of the counts and moved the trial court to consolidate the two indictments for trial. (R. 1840-42) The trial court allowed all of the counts on both indictments to be tried jointly at Defendant's request. *Id.* During its ruling, the trial court noted:

But in view of his defense he feels, obviously, and I can see why, it best to try his client on all counts, waiving those motions to sever.

Defendant did not contest the trial court's observation that he was making a strategic decision. Later during jury selection, the State asked the trial court to confirm that counsel had consulted with Defendant before deciding to consolidate all of the charges and that Defendant had no objection to proceeding in this manner. (R. 1908) The trial court announced that it had seen counsel consult with Defendant, counsel acknowledged that such consultation had occurred and Defendant did not object. (R. 1908) Given the both the testimony from the evidentiary hearing and the record from the trial, the lower court properly found that counsel had made a strategic decision it should be affirmed.

Defendant claims that counsel lied at the evidentiary hearing about why he chose to have the crimes tried together and that the real reason for the consolidation was counsel's financial condition do not change this result. However, Defendant presented nothing to show that counsel was anything but candid with the court regarding this testimony. In fact, while Defendant introduced the drafts of the motion to withdraw, he never even asked counsel if his financial condition influenced his decision to have all the charges tried together. Moreover, determinations of the credibility of the evidence are the job of the trial court. See Roberts v. State, 840 So. 2d

962, 973 (Fla. 2002). As such, the allegation that trial counsel lied about his reasons for having all the counts tried together does not show that counsel's decision was unreasonable. The denial of the claim should be affirmed.

Defendant's claim regarding counsel's financial condition also provides no grounds for reversal. Defendant never even asked counsel at the evidentiary hearing if the grounds asserted in the draft of the motion influenced his decision to seek severance. Instead, he merely had counsel identify the handwritten draft of the motion as being in his handwriting and a typed copy of the draft as being typed from the handwritten draft. (PCR2-SR. 188-91) He then asked counsel if anything changed after he drafted the motion that permitted counsel to represent Defendant and counsel indicated that something had. (PCR2-SR. 191-92) Defendant now asks this Court to speculate that, despite counsel's actual testimony, counsel sought to have the crimes all tried together because of his financial However, such speculation does not show Defendant carried his burden of proof. Maharaj v. State, 778 So. 2d 944, 951 (Fla. 2000). This is particularly true here given the unreasonableness of the speculation. The draft of the motion to withdraw, which was never filed, was dated January 1987. Counsel did not seek to have all the counts tried at once

until March 31, 1988, after a mistrial. Until that time, counsel was seeking severance and had actually obtained severance of the Musa/Quintero counts. Additionally, the Millot crimes had been charged in a separate indictment. Defendant does not even attempt to explain, let alone prove, why counsel would have continued to seek severance for more than a year after drafting the motion if the grounds asserted in the motion were the reason for seeking to have all the crime tried together, especially given that whatever prompted counsel to draft the motion did not even compel him to file the motion. Given the speculative nature of Defendant's claim, it does not show that trial court improperly rejected Defendant's assertion over counsel's direct testimony. The denial of the claim should be affirmed.

Finally, Defendant finally attempts to avoid the fact that counsel made a strategic decision by claiming that counsel's strategy was unreasonable because counsel did not directly state that the insanity defense was strengthened by the number of murders and the number of murders would not have strengthen the insanity defense. However, these arguments do not show that counsel's strategic decision was unreasonable.

Counsel did testify that Defendant had little chance of winning all of the cases given the State's evidence. (PCR2-SR.

233) Counsel then added, "So it was my opinion with an insanity defense, if they're all joined in one case, that if the jury believed he was insane, then he was a total winner." Id. Given this statement, it was not unreasonable for the trial court to infer that counsel believed that the insanity defense was stronger will all of the murders in one case. particularly true in the context of a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel claim, where counsel's actions presumed to be effective and to have made a strategic decision. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 689 (1984)("[A] court must indulge a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance; that is, the defendant must overcome the presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action 'might be considered sound trial strategy.'"). The denial of the claim should be affirmed.

Moreover, the number of murders did tend to strengthen the insanity defense. Defendant's insanity defense was premised on the testimony of Dr. Marquit that Defendant was compelled to kill people by unconscious impulses. (R. 3493-94, 3497) Defendant became fixated on drug dealers and concentrated his homicidal compulsion on them. (R. 3499-3500) According to Dr. Marquit, this developed into a delusion that by killing drug

dealers, Defendant was not killing people but exterminating vermin. (R. 3502) Dr. Marquit stated that the source of Defendant's compulsions and fixations was paranoid schizophrenia. (R. 3506) Given the nature of the testimony, the more times that Defendant had been compelled to act on his delusion, the more it seemed that Defendant actually suffered from the delusion and could not control himself. As such, the murder of murders did strengthen the insanity defense. The denial of the claim should be affirmed.

IV. THE PUBLIC RECORDS CLAIM PRESENTS NO REASON TO GRANT DEFENDANT RELIEF.

Defendant next asserts that the trial court abused its discretion in sustaining objections and granting protective orders regarding his requests to numerous state agencies for every record that mentions 103 named individuals. also appears to complain about other unspecified ruling regarding public records disclosure and the failure to order disclosure of a tape recording made by Ernest Basan. Defendant contends that Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.852 is unconstitutional because it requires that Defendant review records at the repository and that he show the records are relevant. However, the lower court did not abuse its discretion in its rulings on the public Moreover, Defendant has not sufficiently records issues. alleged part of the claim, and the claim regarding the constitutionality of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.852 is unpreserved and without merit.

With regard to the claim about the sustaining of objections and granting of motions for protective order, pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.852(m) (1996), the scope of public records disclosure pursuant to the rule was limited to those records

This Court reviews a trial court's ruling on public records disclosure for an abuse of discretion. *Tompkins v. State*, 872 So. 2d 230, 243 (Fla. 2003).

that are relevant to the subject matter of the post conviction proceedings. This Court has had that this requests a defendant to show that the records requested relate to a colorable claim for post conviction relief. Tompkins v. State, 872 So. 2d 230, 244(Fla. 2004); Glock v. Moore, 776 So. 2d 243, 254 (Fla. 2001); Bryan v. State, 748 So. 2d 1003, 1006 (Fla. 1999). This Court has made it abundantly clear that public records requests are not to be used as fishing expeditions. Tompkins, 872 So. 2d at 243-44; Moore v. State, 820 So. 2d 199, 204-05 (Fla. 2002); Mills v. State, 786 So. 2d 547, 552 (Fla. 2001); Glock, 776 So. 2d at 253; Sims v. State, 753 So. 2d 66, 70 (Fla. 2000); Bryan, 748 So. 2d at 1006. Here, the record is abundantly clear that Defendant was on such a fishing expedition. As such, the lower court did not abuse its discretion in sustaining the objections and granting the protective orders.

Defendant filed requests to numerous agencies regarding any record that they might have which mentioned 103 named individuals. When Defendant first filed the requests, Defendant responded to the trial court's question regarding who these individuals were by stating that he was seeking any record that might even be tangentially related to the case. (PCR1. 1480-81) Over the course of numerous hearings during the next nine months, the trial court found that Defendant had to show that

the relevance of his request and gave Defendant time to do so. Yet, nine months later, Defendant could not even identify who these individuals were. (PCR1. 1205-10) Given that Defendant could not even identify these individuals, Defendant did not proffer any reason why any record regarding any of these individuals might be relevant. Under these circumstances, the trial court properly sustained the objections and granted the protective orders. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.852(m) (1996); see also Tompkins; Mills; Moore; Glock; Bryan. It should be affirmed.

With regard to the claim about unidentified records from unidentified agencies, this claim is insufficient to provide a basis for review. This Court has held that a defendant must specifically identify the records that were allegedly withheld and the agency that allegedly withheld the records. Cook v. State, 792 So. 2d 1197, 1204-05 (Fla. 2001); Thompson v. State, 759 So. 2d 650, 659 (Fla. 2000). This Court has also required defendants to present arguments explaining why the trial court abused its discretion in denying requests. Tompkins, 782 So. 2d

As part of his claim that the rule is unconstitutional, Defendant suggests that requests concerning state witnesses may show that a witness had a history of making false police reports. However, Defendant never even proffered such a reason in support of his requests below. As such, any such issue is unpreserved. Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982)(objection must be based on same grounds raised on appeal for issue to be preserved).

at 244 n.19. As Defendant does not do so, there is no basis for this Court to overturn the trial court's rulings on the public records issues. The denial of the claim should be affirmed.

With regard to the Basan tape, the tape was made by Basan as a private individual and not at the behest of any enforcement agency. Both the Miramar Police and the Office of the State Attorney certified that after diligent searches for the tape, neither agency had it. Defendant presented no evidence that anyone was lying about not having the tape. Given that the tape was not in the possession of the State or the Miramar Police, the trial court denied a motion to compel its production. 15 The trial court did not abused its discretion in finding that the State and Miramar Police could not be compelled to provide that which they did not have. Mendyk v. State, 707 So. 2d 320, 322 (Fla. 1997)(trial court properly denied claim were agency presented affidavit that evidence did not exist and defendant made no showing that it did); Mills v. State, 684 So. 2d 801, 806 (Fla. 1996) (where agency denied possession of record and Defendant presented nothing to show it was in agencies

Defendant has not had the transcripts of the public records hearing included on the record on appeal. Since it was Defendant's burden to get these transcripts, he cannot challenge the trial court's finding that the State and Miramar Police did not have the tape. $Hall\ v.\ Bass$, 309 So. 2d 250 (Fla. 4th DCA 1975).

possession, denial of public records claim proper). It should be affirmed.

With regard to the claim that Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.852 is unconstitutional, the issue is unpreserved. Defendant never claimed below that the rule was unconstitutional on any basis. In fact, Defendant freely admitted that it was his burden to show that the records he sought were relevant. He never made any arguments about the repository. Since Defendant did not raise this issue below, it is not preserved. Castor v. State, 365 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 1978). The denial of the public records claim should be affirmed.

Even if the issue had been preserved, it should still be denied. The version of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.852 under which the majority of Defendant's requests¹⁷ were made did not require that records be provided through the repository and specifically provided that the "rule does not affect, expand, or limit the production of public records for any purposes other use in a 3.850 or 3.851 proceeding." Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.852(k) (1996).

¹⁶ Given that the majority of the requests were made under the version of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.852 that was in effective before the establishment of the repository, this is not remarkable.

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